# **MONDAY, FEBRUARY 20, 1995**

## RESUMPTION OF THE SESSION

At 2:27 p.m., the Honorable Edgardo J. Angara, President of the Senate, called the session to order.

The President: The session is resumed.

# BILL ON SECOND READING Senate Bill No. 2066—Amending Sec. 8 of RA 7227 BCDA of 1992 (Continuation)

Senator Romulo: Mr. President, I move that we resume consideration of Senate Bill No. 2066 as reported out under Committee Report No. 951.

The President: Resumption of consideration of Senate Bill No. 2066 is now in order.

Senator Romulo: May I ask that the distinguished Chairman of the Committee on Finance, Senator Gonzales, be recognized.

The President: Senator Gonzales is recognized.

**Senator Romulo:** Mr. President, will the distinguished Gentleman yield for a few questions?

**Senator Gonzales:** Gladly, Mr. President, to the Majority Leader.

**Senator Romulo:** Mr. President, what are the major amendments being proposed to the BCDA?

Senator Gonzales: Mr. President, there will be, in effect, a redistribution of the proceeds from the sales of the military lands as authorized under Republic Act No. 7227. Under this bill, the redistribution of the said proceeds will be for the following purposes:

- Thirty-five percent of the proceeds shall be used to finance the transfer of the Armed Forces of the Philippines military camps;
- 2. Ten percent to finance the conversion and commercial use of Clark and Subic military reservations;
- Seven-and-a-half percent to finance the National Shelter Program;

- 4. Five percent to finance the National Health Insurance Program;
- 5. Five percent to finance critical infrastructure programs not covered by the BOT scheme;
- 6. Five percent to finance the benefits and claims of military war veterans and their dependents;
- 7. Five percent to finance the multiyear programs of the Commission on Higher Education;
- 8. Five percent to finance the Science and Technology Scholarship and training of young Filipino scientists and students:
- Five percent to finance the multiyear program of the Prosecution Service;
- Two percent but not exceeding P2 billion to finance the modernization of the PNP;
- 11. One percent but in no case exceeding P1 billion for the improvement of the prison facilities;
- 12. One percent but in no case exceeding P1 billion to finance the Judicial Reform Program and the balance will be remitted to the National Treasury.

**Senator Romulo**: Mr. President, what would be the total amount projected to be raised within the next five years?

**Senator Gonzales:** Mr. President, within the original projection made by the Bases Conversion Council, it remains roughly at P97.9239 billion or to round it off, P98 billion.

**Senator Romulo:** Mr. President, I move that we close the period of interpellations.

The President: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the motion is approved.

Senator Romulo: Mr. President, I move that we consider the amendments, first, the Committee amendments.

The President: Are there any Committee amendments?

Senator Gonzales: First, Mr. President, the Committee would want to amend ...

### SUSPENSION OF THE SESSION

May I ask for a one-minute suspension of the session.

and SBMA no longer need this money, I guess there is a tinge of immorality here in reallocating these funds for purposes other than what we originally authorized the sale of Fort Bonifacio for.

Second, Mr. President. We have gotten P19.5 billion simply because we have a chairman and a staff, unlike the chairman and the staff of Petron and the APT, the Chair's favorite institution, unlike the DOTC, which conducts highly irregular, overpriced and underpriced biddings, as the case may be; we have here a chairman and a staff who were able to get beyond our wildest expectations a bid for P33,000 per square meter instead of P10,000 or P15,000. And because of their honesty and their devotion to duty and compliance with all the normal procedures, now everybody wants to have a piece of the pie. It is so demoralizing to these people to see that what they labored for and what they are so honest about is going to be cut up in trillion pieces simply because they did their jobs well.

If I were the chairman now of BCDA or SBMA and were to conduct additional biddings as there will be, I would no longer try as hard to get the best price. Anyway, the success is going to prejudice me because it becomes such a big amount that it will be eyed with such jealousy and envy by many sectors of this Government, including the President of the Philippines.

For that reason, Mr. President, I guess the orientation of this redistribution has to be reviewed by the leadership of this Chamber and that this 10%, which amounts to P9.8 billion, being left to SBMA and BCDA from 50%, is certainly way below.

These BCDA and SBMA people will not even be able to transfer or relocate the squatters out of the property they sold. They would not have money for that. They would not be able to build the new roads within the area, much less the infrastructure.

So in our effort to try to accommodate other priorities, we are losing sight of the basic and minimum requirements of the entities for which these properties were allowed to be sold in the first place.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: I thank Senator Maceda for his eloquent remarks.

# SUSPENSION OF CONSIDERATION OF SENATE BILL NO. 2066

Senator Mercado: Mr. President, I reiterate the motion to suspend consideration of this measure.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the motion is approved.

# BILL ON SECOND READING Senate Bill No. 1984 — Inter-country Adoption (Continuation)

Senator Mercado: Mr. President, I move that we resume consideration of Senate Bill No. 1984 as reported out under Committee Report No. 689.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Resumption of consideration of Senate Bill No. 1984 is now in order.

Senator Mercado: Mr. President, we are still in the period of interpellations.

I ask that we recognize Senator Rasul.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Rasul is recognized.

Senator Rasul: Thank you, Mr. President.

The parliamentary situation is, we were in the period of interpellations since the distinguished Minority Leader, Senator Tañada, requested to give him time to be able to ask some clarificatory questons. But we have been informed by his staff that he has decided not to ask questions, but instead, he has given me a list of his amendments which he would want me to read into the *Record*.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Maybe, during the period of amendments, the Lady Senator can mention those amendments. Meanwhile, is there anybody else who wants to interpellate? [Silence] If there is none, the Majority Leader can close the period of interpellations.

**Senator Mercado**: Mr. President, I move that we close the period of interpellations.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the motion is approved.

Senator Mercado: Mr. President, I move that we go to the period of Committee amendments.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Are there any Committee amendments?

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, there are no Committee amendments.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: There are no Committee amendments.

**Senator Mercado**: Mr. President, I move that we close the period of Committee amendments.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the motion is approved.

**Senator Mercado:** Mr. President, I move that we proceed to the period of individual amendments.

Senator Maceda: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Maceda is recognized.

Senator Maceda: In view of the fact that there are only seven Senators here and there are 16 other Senators who are out of the Chamber, there is no way of determining at this time whether any of them do have any individual amendments. I suggest that we just suspend consideration of this bill until all the others come back from the ceremonial ceremonies at Malacañang.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Maybe, we can start with the recommended amendments of Senator Tañada.

# QUESTION OF QUORUM

Senator Maceda: Mr. President, I raise the question of quorum.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We will not take up the amendments of Senator Tañada anymore until later.

The Majority Leader is recognized.

Senator Mercado: Mr. President, a question of quorum has been raised.

### SUSPENSION OF THE SESSION

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We will have a one-minute suspension of the session, if there is no objection. [There was none.]

It was 3:18 p.m.

# RESUMPTION OF THE SESSION

At 3:32 p.m., the session was resumed.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is resumed.

# SUSPENSION OF CONSIDERATION OF SENATE BILL NO. 1984

Senator Mercado: Mr. President, I move that we suspend consideration of Senate Bill No. 1984.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] There being none, the motion is approved.

There was a motion made by Senator Maceda earlier.

**Senator Mercado:** The motion for a call of quorum has been withdrawn, Mr. President.

**Senator Maceda**: Mr. President, I withdraw the question of quorum.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Thank you, Senator Maceda.

# BILL ON SECOND READING Senate Bill No. 1751 — Regulating the Cutting of Coconut Trees (Continuation)

Senator Mercado: Mr. President, I move that we resume consideration of Senate Bill No. 1751 as reported out under Committee Report No. 660.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Resumption of consideration of Senate Bill No. 1751 is now in order.

Senator Maceda: Mr. President, the parliamentary status is, just like most bills that we are taking up these last few days and today, this bill is now in the period of amendments.

### SUSPENSION OF THE SESSION

Senator Osmeña: Mr. President, may I ask for a one-minute suspension of the session.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is suspended for one minute, if there is no objection. [There was none.]

It was 3:34 p.m.

# RESUMPTION OF THE SESSION

At 3:35 p.m., the session was resumed.

there is no objection. [There was none.]

The Secretary: House Bill No. 14296, entitled

ANACTCREATING A SPECIAL ECONOMIC ZONE
AND FREE PORT IN THE CITY OF
ZAMBOANGA CREATING FOR THIS
PURPOSE THE ZAMBOANGA CITY SPECIAL
ECONOMIC ZONE AUTHORITY, APPROPRIATING FUNDS THEREFOR, AND FOR
OTHER PURPOSES

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Senate will now proceed to vote on the bill. The Secretary will please call the roll.

The Secretary called the roll and the result of the voting was as follows:

YES - 14

Senator Aquino	Senator Rasul
Senator Biazon	Senator Revilla
Senator Herrera	Senator Roco
Senator Maceda	Senator Romulo
Senator Mercado	Senator Shahani
Senator Ople	Senator Webb
Senator Osmeña	The President

*NO* - 0

ABSTENTION - 0

#### RESULT OF VOTING

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: With 14 affirmative votes, no negative vote, and no abstention, House Bill No. 14296 is approved on Third Reading.

# BILL ON THIRD READING House Bill No. 14297—Special Economic Zone in Sta. Ana, Cagayan

Senator Romulo: Mr. President, I move that we vote on Third Reading on House Bill No. 14297. Printed copies of the bill were distributed to all the Members of the Senate on February 15, 1995.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Voting on Third Reading on House Bill No. 14297 is now in order.

The Secretary will please read only the title of the bill, if

there is no objection. [There was none.]

The Secretary: House Bill No. 14297, entitled

AN ACTESTABLISHING A SPECIAL ECONOMIC
ZONE AND FREE PORT IN THE
MUNICIPALITY OF SANTA ANA AND THE
NEIGHBORING ISLANDS IN THE
MUNICIPALITY OF APARRI, PROVINCE OF
CAGAYAN, PROVIDING FUNDS THEREFOR
AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Senate will now proceed to vote on the bill. The Secretary will please call the roll.

The Secretary called the roll and the result of the voting was as follows:

YES - 14

Senator Aquino	Senator Rasul
Senator Biazon	Senator Revilla
Senator Herrera	Senator Roco
Senator Maceda	Senator Romulo
Senator Mercado	Senator Shahani
Senator Ople	Senator Webb
Senator Osmeña	The President

NO - 0

ABSTENTION - 0

#### RESULT OF VOTING

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: With 14 affirmative votes, no negative vote, and no abstention, House Bill No. 14297 is approved on Third Reading.

# BILL ON SECOND READING House Bill No. 1984 — Intercountry Adoption (Continuation)

Senator Romulo: Mr. President, I move that we resume consideration of House Bill No. 1984 as reported out under Committee Report No. 689.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Resumption of consideration of House Bill No. 1984 is now in order.

Senator Romulo: We are now in the period of amendments. I move that we consider, first, the Committee amendments. I ask that the Sponsor, Senator Rasul, be recognized.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Rasul is recognized.

Senator Rasul: Thank you, Mr. President. There are no Committee amendments, but Senator Tañada left with this Representation his individual amendments.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We can tackle that during the period of individual amendments.

**Senator Romulo:** Mr. President, we are now in the period of individual amendments.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Are there any individual amendments?

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, may we be permitted to read the proposed amendments of Senator Tañada.

Senator Webb: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Webb is recognized.

**Senator Webb:** I have to apologize, Mr. President. I was talking with somebody. What bill are we taking up right now?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: House Bill No. 1984, Rules to Govern and Protect the Filipino Child in Intercountry Adoption. We are in the period of individual amendments.

Senator Webb: Mr. President, on page 3, line 4.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Unless there is an anterior amendment of Senator Tañada.

Senator Rasul: Yes, Mr. President. On page 1, lines 12 to 15, delete the phrase beginning from the words "an alternative means" up to the word "Philippines" and in lieu thereof, insert the phrase "AS ALLOWING ALIENS NOT PRESENTLY ALLOWED BY LAW TO ADOPT FILIPINO CHILDREN IF SUCH CHILDREN CANNOT BE ADOPTED BY QUALIFIED FILIPINO CITIZENS OR ALIENS".

This proposed amendment, as explained by Senator Tañada, is in consonance with the last paragraph of Article 184 of the Family Code, which reads:

Aliens not included in the foregoing exceptions may adopt

Filipino children in accordance with the rules on inter-country adoption as may be provided by law.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Does the Sponsor accept this amendment?

Senator Rasul: Yes, Mr. President. As a matter of fact, I have gone over the amendments introduced by Senator Tañada and I accept all his proposed amendments.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Rasul: On the same page, lines 22 up to lines 1 and 2 of page 2, delete the phrase beginning with the word "foreigner" up to the word "country", and in lieu thereof, insert the phrase "ANALIEN NOT QUALIFIED UNDER THE FAMILY CODE TO ADOPT FILIPINO CHILDREN".

As explained by Senator Tañada, this amendment is made because under the Filipino Code, Filipino children permanently residing in a foreign country is not disqualified to be adopted. As a matter of fact, Article 184 of the Family Code allows certain groups of aliens to adopt Filipino children.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Rasul: On page 3, line 8,...

Senator Webb: Anterior amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Webb is recognized.

Senator Webb: On page 3, line 4, change the word "by" to "OF". It should read "composed OF the Secretary of the Department" and not "composed by the Secretary of the Department".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Does the Sponsor accept the amendment?

Senator Rasul: It is accepted, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Webb: Mr. President, on line 5—just a refinement here—delete the words "shall have" and in lieu thereof, insert the word "OTHER" between the words "four (4)" and "members". So the whole text will read "Chairman, and four (4)

OTHER members to be appointed by the President".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say? It is a matter of style again. Does the Sponsor accept that amendment?

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, as a matter of fact, there is an amendment introduced by Senator Tañada that has to do with the membership of the Board, because it is no longer "four". There will be "FIVE (5) members".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Then maybe we should take the Tañada amendment first.

Senator Rasul: Yes, if I may, Mr. President, then maybe Senator Webb can introduce his amendment later on.

On page 3, line 8, between the words "lawyer"...

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is the Sponsor changing the number of members to be appointed by the President?

Senator Rasul: Yes. Senator Tañada is reducing.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: From five to how many?

Senator Rasul: There are five members, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That is correct.

Senator Rasul: There are still five members. But instead of two representatives from the NGO...

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We can deal with that later.

Senator Rasul: Yes, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: First, we tackle the Webb amendment. On line 5, delete the words "shall have" and insert the word "OTHER" between the words "four (4)" and "members" — "four (4) OTHER members". It is a matter of style again.

Does the Sponsor accept this amendment?

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, if I may, I would like to propose that instead of changing, we just delete the words "and shall".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: How will it read?

**Senator Rasul**: Delete the words "shall have" so that it will read "as *Ex-officio* Chairman, and four (4) OTHER members". So the words "shall have" should be deleted.

Senator Webb: That was my amendment, Mr. President. I accept the amendment to my amendment which is the same.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Webb accepts the amendment to the amendment. Now we will just delete the words "shall have" so it will read "Ex-officio Chairman, and four (4) OTHER members to be appointed" et cetera.

Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Webb: Mr. President, on line 6, insert the word "NONRENEWABLE" between the words "a" and "term", so that it will read "the President for a NONRENEWABLE term of six (6) years".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Does the Sponsor accept this amendment?

Senator Rasul: Yes, I accept the amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: So it is "NON-RENEWABLE of six (6) years". Senator Webb does not like them reappointed.

Senator Webb: That is right, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That is the intention.

Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Rasul: Can I now go to line 8, Mr. President?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Yes, please.

Senator Rasul: On line 8, same page, between the words "lawyer" and "and", insert the words "ONE (1) REGISTERED SOCIAL WORKER"; and on the same line, replace the word "two (2)" to "ONE (1)". So, it will now read "That there shall be appointed one (1) psychiatrist or psychologist, one (1) lawyer, ONE (1) REGISTERED SOCIAL WORKER and ONE (1)

representative from non-governmental organizations".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is that the Tañada amendment?

Senator Rasul: Yes, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Rasul: On the same page, line 25, unless there are some other amendments.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Webb.

Senator Webb: Mr. President, it is just a question.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Yes.

Senator Webb: On line 14, it says here, "eight (8) meetings". I would like to amend that to "FOUR (4) meetings".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Does the Sponsor intend that the Board meets twice a week?

Senator Rasul: What line is that, Mr. President?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We are talking of line 14, "no compensation shall be paid for more than eight (8) meetings a month", which means two meetings a week.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is it the intention of the Sponsor that the Board members meet twice a week or a maximum of once a week?

Senator Rasul: What is the amendment, Mr. President?

Senator Webb: I am proposing to change the word and figure "eight (8)" to "FOUR (4)", Mr. President.

**The Presiding Officer** [Senator Aquino]: So that it will be once a week.

Senator Rasul: I accept the amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The amendment is accepted. Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

So the Board will have a maximum of once a week or four times a month.

Senator Rasul: We are still on page 3, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Line 25, unless there is a previous amendment.

Senator Shahani: Anterior amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Shahani is recognized.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, I do reserve my right to go back because I got my individual amendments a little late. But since the Presiding Officer mentioned line 25 on page 7...

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We are only on page 3.

Senator Shahani: I am sorry, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Line 25, page 3.

Senator Rasul: On line 25, page 3, replace the semicolon "(;)" after the word "activities" with a period "(.)". Then add the following words: THE FOREIGN ADOPTION PLACEMENT COMMITTEE SHALL BE UNDER THE DIRECT SUPERVISION OF THE BOARD.

The explanation for this is: Police power is needed in the implementation. So it may be difficult to keep track of compliance, hence, there is a need for this amendment.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Committee accepts this amendment. Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Are there amendments on page 4?

Senator Rasul: None, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: On page 5.

Senator Rasul: On page 5, line 11, delete the words "alternative child care within the Philippines" and in lieu thereof, insert the words "ADOPTION OF THE CHILD UNDER THE FAMILY CODE".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection to the amendment?

**Senator Webb**: Mr. President, may we hear the whole sentence again?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Sponsor will please read the whole sentence starting with the words "The Board" on line 10.

Senator Rasul: "The Board shall ensure that all possibilities for ADOPTION OF THE CHILD have been exhausted and that "INTERCOUNTRY adoption is in the best interest of the child."

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: No. The Chair thinks that is not the amendment of the Lady Senator. It is something about UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF THE BOARD.

Senator Rasul: That was finished, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Precisely, that is the one on line 11.

**Senator Rasul:** No, Mr. President. Line 11 is on page 5. What the Gentleman means is page 3.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: No, we are on page 5, line 11.

Senator Webb: Mr. President, I think I remember very well that "alternative child care" was deleted. That is why I asked for a complete sentence.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: "Alternative child care within the Philippines" is deleted.

Senator Rasul: That is right. "The Board shall ensure that all possibilities for ADOPTION have been exhausted and that "INTERCOUNTRY adoption is in the best interest of the child."

**Senator Webb:** Mr. President, may I try to recall, if I may be allowed?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Yes.

Senator Webb: I think Senator Rasul said, "The Board shall ensure that all possibilities for ADOPTION OF THE CHILD UNDER THE FAMILY CODE have been exhausted..." That is what I heard, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That is correct. That is what I heard. It has to do with the Family Code.

# SUSPENSION OF THE SESSION

Senator Rasul: May we have a one-minute suspension of

the session, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is suspended for one minute, if there is no objection. [There was none.]

It was 6:04 p.m.

## RESUMPTION OF THE SESSION

At 6:05 p.m., the session was resumed.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is resumed.

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, the provision reads as follows: "The Board shall ensure that all possibilities for ADOPTION OF THE CHILD UNDER THE FAMILY CODE have been exhausted and that INTERCOUNTRY adoption is in the best interest of the child."

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: All right.

**Senator Webb**: There are two amendments. Can we take them one at a time, Mr. President?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: First, delete the phrase "alternative child care within the Philippines" and in lieu thereof, put the following words: ADOPTION OF THE CHILD UNDER THE FAMILY CODE.

So that it will now read: "The Board shall ensure that all possibilities FOR ADOPTION OF THE CHILD UNDER THE FAMILY CODE have been exhausted and that foreign adoption is in the best interest of the child."

There is only one amendment.

**Senator Webb**: Mr. President, that was not the amendment. That is different.

**Senator Rasul:** Mr. President, that is the amendment on line 11. There is another amendment on line 12.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Which is?

**Senator Rasul**: To delete the words "foreign adoption" and in lieu thereof, insert the word INTER-COUNTRY.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: "INTER-COUNTRY adoption?"

Senator Rasul: Yes, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: So how will it read now in full starting with line 10?

Senator Rasul: "The Board shall ensure that all possibilities FOR ADOPTION OF THE CHILD UNDER THE FAMILY CODE have been exhausted and that INTER-COUNTRY adoption is in the best interest of the child."

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: All right. There are two amendments.

Is there any objection to the first amendment? [Silence] Hearing none, the same is approved.

Is there any objection to the second amendment by inserting the word "INTER-COUNTRY" before the word "adoption" on line 12? [Silence] Hearing none, the same is approved.

Senator Rasul: On the same page, lines 23 to 24, delete the phrase "A foreigner or a Filipino citizen permanently residing abroad" and replace it with the words "ANY ALIEN".

So that the section will now read: "Sec. 9. Who May Adopt. - ANY ALIEN may file an application for INTER-COUNTRY adoption of a Filipino child if he/she:"

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection to this amendment?

Senator Webb: Mr. President, just one question.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Yes.

**Senator Webb:** May I know the reason behind the complete turnaround as far as adoption is concerned because we are now talking of an alien. Is a Filipino who resides abroad considered as an alien, Mr. President?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Chair supposes that a Filipino does not have to go through intercountry, after all, he is within the same country. It is not intercountry if it is a Filipino who is adopting.

What does the Sponsor say?

Senator Rasul: The Chair is correct, Mr. President.

Senator Webb: Because the words "permanently residing abroad", Mr. President, have a different connotation. I will accept it, but are we now saying that it is only an alien who may

really file an application for an adoption? A Filipino who is abroad is not an alien. He is a Filipino.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That is correct.

Senator Rasul: That is right, Mr. President. So it should be "ANY ALIEN" without deleting the phrase "or a Filipino citizen permanently residing abroad."

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: All right. In other words, the distinguished Senator is now changing her amendment. Instead of the word "foreigner", we are just going to put the words "ANY ALIEN or a Filipino citizen permanently residing abroad", et cetera?

Senator Rasul: Yes, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That clarifies it.

Senator Webb: That is better, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection to the words "ANY ALIEN"? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Webb: Mr. President, on line 26, before I propose my amendment. May I know the reason why we are asking that it be at the age of 24 for one to be adopted?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: No, the one who is adopting must at least be 24 years old.

**Senator Webb:** I am sorry. Why does the person have to be 24 years old? Because the age of majority is 18.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say? The Chair supposes that somebody who is 24 years old is more mature.

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, this "sixteen (16) years" here does not refer to the age of the adopter. It refers to the age gap between the person adopting and the child to be adopted, and the minimum age is 24.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We understand that. The question is: Why is it 24?

**Senator Rasul:** The presumption is that at age 24, the person adopting is already mature.

Senator Webb: Mr. President, if that is the case, then we should not allow people to vote at the age of 18. When we

considered 18 as the majority age, it simply means that he is already responsible. So, if the Sponsor will not mind, I would like to amend this to 18 years old.

Senator Rasul: I cannot accept that amendment, Mr. President, because 18 years old is the age of majority but, to be able to adopt a child and to take care of a child, it requires more than the physical aspect. There has to be some maturity and some kind of an experience for a person to be able to adopt another.

## SUSPENSION OF THE SESSION

**Senator Roco**: Mr. President, may I ask for a one-minute suspension of the session.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is suspended for one minute, if there is no objection. [There was none.]

It was 6:10 p.m.

#### RESUMPTION OF THE SESSION

At 6:13 p.m., the session was resumed.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is resumed.

**Senator Webb:** Mr. President, after the deliberations, I would withdraw my amendment.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Webb withdraws his proposed amendment. We can now proceed. Page 6.

Senator Webb: Still on page 5, Mr. President.

On page 5, line 28, after the word "application", insert the words "UNLESS THE ADOPTER IS THE PARENT BY NATURE OF THE CHILD TO BE ADOPTED OR THE SPOUSE OF SUCH PARENT".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say?

**Senator Rasul:** Mr. President, may we have the amendment again?

Senator Webb; Again, Mr. President. On page 5, line 28, insert after the word "application", the following: "UNLESS THE ADOPTER IS THE PARENT BY NATURE OF THE

CHILD TO BE ADOPTED OR THE SPOUSE OF SUCH PARENT".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Gentleman mean by "parent by nature?" Why can we not just say "natural parent?"

Senator Webb: Mr. President, that is what the Family Code states. The exact words are the ones we extracted from the Family Code.

Senator Rasul: The amendment is accepted, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The amendment is accepted. Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the same is approved.

Senator Webb: Page 6, line 17, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Unless there is an anterior amendment.

Senator Rasul: Anterior amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Rasul is recognized.

# TAÑADA AMENDMENT

Senator Rasul: On lines 12 to 13, delete the word "Article 3" on line 11 up to the word "Code" on line 13 and in lieu thereof, insert the words "PHILIPPINE LAWS".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Sponsor accepts the amendment of Senator Tañada. Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the same is approved.

Senator Rasul: On line 20.

6.

Senator Webb: Are we on page 6, Mr. President?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We are on page

Senator Webb: Mine would be on line 19, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Please read it.

#### WEBB AMENDMENT

Senator Webb: Insert before the word "authorized" the word "SIMILARLY", and delete the words "and accredited".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We are deleting the words "and accredited" and putting the word "SIMILAR-LY". I think it is not a correct English.

Senator Webb; No, Mr. President.

Insert the word "SIMILARLY" before the word "authorized" so it will read: SIMILARLY "authorized", and delete the words "and accredited".

Senator Rasul: Delete "accredited"? Did I hear it correctly, Mr. President?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That is correct.

**Senator Rasul:** Mr. President, it is too risky to allow an agency that has not been accredited to...

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Maybe I should read it.

Senator Rasul: Yes, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: It states, "comes from a country with whom the Philippines has diplomatic relations and whose government maintains a similar authorized agency".

Senator Webb: "SIMILARLY authorized agency." It reads, "whose government maintains a SIMILARLY authorized agency." Because the words "authorized" and "accredited", Mr. President, are almost identical. I just took off one just primarily to make sure that it is clearer.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say?

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, we should retain the word "accredited" because there has to be similar standards regardless of the country and unless we place there the word "accredited", there might be some degree of too much flexibility in the standards that will be used. What we want is to have an agency that will really protect the Filipino child.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: May I repeat: "A SIMILARLY authorized and accredited agency." That is what the Sponsor wants.

Senator Webb: That is why, Mr. President, I was taking away the words "and accredited" primarily because anything that is accredited has been authorized.

Senator Rasul: Not necessarily, Mr. President.

Senator Webb: I will accept it, Mr. President.

Senator Rasul: Thank you, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Webb accepts the amendment to the amendment. We will therefore change "an" to A" on line 18 and add the word "SIMILARLY" before the word "authorized".

Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

#### TAÑADA AMENDMENTS

Senator Rasul: On the same page, line 20, Mr. President, replace the period (.) after the words "national laws".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Replace it with what?

Senator Rasul: After the word "laws" with a semi colon(;), add the word "AND" between lines 20 and 21, and insert a new paragraph to read as follows:

POSSESSES ALL THE QUALIFICATIONS AND NONE OF THE DISQUALIFICATIONS PROVIDED HEREIN AND IN OTHER APPLICABLE PHILIPPINE LAWS

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Does the Sponsor accept this Tañada amendment? Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, delete the entire paragraph starting from lines 21 to 30 on page 6 and lines 1 to 3 on page 7.

The explanation for this, Mr. President, is that the distinction between a resident and a nonresident alien should be removed because residency may become a way of circumventing the restrictive provisions of the law. That is the reason for the deletion.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The sponsor accepts the amendment to delete lines 21 to 30 on page 6, and lines 1 to 3 on page 7.

Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

We are now on page 9.

#### SHAHANI AMENDMENT

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, I have an individual amendment. On page 7, line 5, between the words "the" and "Board", we propose that the phrase "PHILIPPINE REGIONAL TRIAL COURT HAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE CHILD THROUGH THE" be inserted.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say?

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, the amendment might unnecessarily delay the procedure of adoption, unless there is a very good reason for the amendment.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, I proposed this amendment because this makes the issue of adoption now completely out of the judicial jurisdiction of the country and it is now mainly in the hands of the Board. This was one of the reasons why I had to dissent in the final Committee Report because this was a major gap in the Committee proceedings and there was no attempt, during those hearings, to rectify what I thought was a major failure in the text of the law itself.

Senator Rasul: We accept the amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The amendment is accepted. May we know how it will read now - "Application to adopt a Filipino child shall be filed with the PHILIPPINE REGIONAL TRIAL COURTHAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE CHILD THROUGH THE intermediate agency". Is that correct?

Senator Rasul: That is correct, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We have removed the word "Board" and in its stead, we put the phrase "PHILIPPINE REGIONAL TRIAL COURT HAVING JURIS-DICTION OVER THE CHILD THROUGH THE". Is that correct?

Senator Rasul: That is correct, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection to this amendment?

Senator Gonzales: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Gonzales is recognized.

Senator Gonzales: With the consent of the two Lady

Senators on the Floor, may I propound some questions for proper enlightenment.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Please proceed.

Senator Gonzales: To the Sponsor, may I ask these questions: Will the passage of this bill deprive our regular courts of their jurisdiction over adoption cases? Would adoption cases now, under this bill, be a mere administrative instead of a judicial process?

Senator Rasul: Yes, it seems to be that way, Mr. President, because it will now be handled by the Board and will no longer go through any court.

Senator Gonzales: Does adoption, Mr. President, call for the exercise of judicial power and, therefore, must remain in the judiciary? Or, is it an administrative procedure, the determination of which will have to be exclusively vested in an administrative board in this particular case, known as the Board?

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, I think that is a very relevant point raised by the distinguished Senator and we would like to know if there is an amendment.

Senator Gonzales: No, but we would like to know because apparently the intent now is to make adoption an administrative matter. If it is essentially a judicial function, how can we, by law, vest the exercise of judicial power in an administrative body? That will violate the principle of separation of powers.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Shahani is recognized.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, may I just explain my amendment. I think that answers the question raised by our distinguished Colleague. But I do not think it was understood.

I am not deleting the Board here, so that the amendment will state: "AN APPLICATION TO ADOPT A FILIPINO CHILD SHALL BE FILED WITH THE PHILIPPINE REGIONAL TRIALCOURT HAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE CHILD THROUGH THE BOARD."

Senator Gonzales: So, the obvious purpose of this amendment is to recognize that adoption is an exercise of judicial power and therefore must remain with the courts although it will have to be coursed through, for purposes of matching and other preliminary purposes, the Board. Is that my understanding?

Senator Shahani: Yes, Mr. President. We have discussed it with the Sponsor of the bill and have been told that one of the reasons why they have tried to remove this proceeding from the jurisdiction of the court is that the bureaucratic delays are so enormous that sometimes the child is already very much older than when the parents wanted to adopt them and this makes the judicial process inimical to the welfare of the child.

But I would like to say, Mr. President, that in my other amendments there is a provision here to give a deadline to the court of 30 days. Now if nothing happens after that, then the jurisdiction of the Board is no longer there. That is how I would like this problem approached, Mr. President.

Senator Gonzales: I really would want to get a complete picture of the operation of this bill, Mr. President, and these are questions which really bother me. Obviously, there will be two processes of adoption in our country: adoption by foreigners of a Filipino child and adoption by Filipinos permanently residing in the Philippines of Filipino children. The latter will be under the jurisdiction of the courts and the former will be under the jurisdiction of the Board.

## SUSPENSION OF THE SESSION

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, may we have a one-minute suspension of the session.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is suspended for one minute, if there is no objection. [There was none.]

It was 6:28 p.m.

# RESUMPTION OF THE SESSION

At 6:46 p.m., the session was resumed.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is resumed. Senator Rasul is recognized.

Senator Rasul: Senator Shahani has an amendment, Mr. President

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Shahani is recognized.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, upon consultation with the Sponsor and with our Colleagues here, this Representation will not press for the requirement of a judicial process. In other words, I accept that the adoption process would essentially be administrative in nature. Having said that, however, this does not mean that we waive the recourse to the courts in the event that the parties concerned — the parents or the relations of the child as well as the adopted parents — will feel that in the interest of the rights of the child, a judicial process would be best in order to protect the rights of the child under Philippine laws. That is how I understand it, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is the distinguished Senator withdrawing the amendment?

Senator Shahani: Yes, Mr. President, without prejudice to the fact that the judicial process is also a recourse that is not closed to the parties concerned.

Senator Maceda: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Maceda is recognized.

Senator Maceda: May I just propound one question to the distinguished Sponsor.

These cases for adoption, annulment of marriages, et cetera, are all of the same level in the sense that they affect family rights or family relations. At the proper time, when a divorce bill is presented in this Chamber, would the same principle be acceptable that divorce would be granted by a Board instead of the courts?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is Senator Shahani willing to state her opinion?

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, that is a prejudicial question. Divorce cannot be equated with child adoption, so I should limit myself to the subject of child adoption.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Rasul.

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, as far as this Representation is concerned and as a Muslim, we accept divorce.

Senator Maceda: Thank you, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: If the amendment has been withdrawn, it now stands as it is, unless there is an amendment.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, it is not exactly withdrawn. But I would like the Sponsor to come up maybe with a formula which is acceptable to this Representation. I think I have stated my position quite clearly. It is a rather delicate amendment. Maybe some of our staff can get together because I do not think I would just take the risk of just dictating it on the Floor.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Maybe our legal luminary from Bicol can give us his version.

Senator Roco is recognized.

Senator Roco: Mr. President, I will just testify as to what happened during the discussion where our eminent friends, Senator Tolentino and Senator Gonzales, were discussing on how to solve the problem.

What I understood as agreed upon is to put in the appropriate section of the law a provision making adoption an administrative procedure both for adoption of children by foreigners or by Filipinos. If we must liberalize, let it be liberalized for both foreign adoptions or Filipino adoptions, without prejudice, of course, to allowing the judicial proceedings in either case.

In other words, if there is a foreigner who still wants to adopt using the judicial process, or a Filipino who wants to adopt using the standard judicial process, let it be. So it is that principle, Mr. President.

I cannot craft the amendment now. But if we can approve that in principle so that it applies to both adoption by foreigners or by Filipinos, then, maybe, we shall have made it into a general law and we shall have no unfair or class legislation aspect to the present bill.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say?

**Senator Rasul:** Yes, we understand the amendment, Mr. President, and we accept it.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Maceda is recognized.

Senator Maceda: I just want to raise a related point even this early.

The advantage of keeping the judicial process is, by nature, it is a slow, deliberate process. While there may be some objections to that, that is the end result.

Admittedly, when we go into an administrative process, we may have an assembly line-type of approvals.

So while I will be willing to accept an administrative

process for both, we must now insist on a certain fixed limit or number of adoptions per year. I do not want to see that just because of our poverty, which has not been solved to date by any Administration, that suddenly foreign adoption agencies will come here in droves and take our babies out by the thousands.

True, it is only 350 now. But, precisely, if we make it so easy and it is just an administrative process or a simple board process, we might have several thousands going out.

I am not quite ready to make it that easy. This is just the result of poverty which, after all, is part of our responsibility as a government to provide for, not only to send them out of the country.

No right thinking Filipino family will give up or abandon his kids or make them legally free, in one way or another, if not because of economic reasons.

I repeat, there should be some limit on the number of adoptions per year.

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, perhaps it would be instructive to read the number of adoptions, just to give us the figure of how many children are adopted by relatives and, through the regular channels, by aliens.

In 1986, Mr. President, 187 children were adopted by relatives and 274 children by nonrelatives.

In 1987, 147 children were adopted by relatives for the entire year; 295 children by nonrelatives.

In 1988, 168 children were adopted by relatives; 327 children by nonrelatives.

In 1989, 126 children were adopted by relatives; 290 children by nonrelatives.

In 1990, 148 children were adopted by relatives, 312 children by nonrelatives.

In 1991, 105 children were adopted by relatives, 343 children by nonrelatives.

In 1993, 178 children were adopted by relatives, 322 children by nonrelatives, or a total of 500 for the entire year.

In 1994, 156 children were adopted by relatives, 343 children by nonrelatives, or a total of 499 children adopted by relatives and aliens for the whole year of 1994.

So setting a limit, Mr. President, is also good. After all, there has not been a massive outflow of children adopted by foreigners. Most of these children were adopted out of wedlock or children born out of great incidence. And this would be a way out for these children so they could live a better life outside of the environment where they find themselves.

Senator Gonzales: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Gonzales is recognized.

Senator Gonzales: I recognize the concern that has been expressed by Senator Maceda. On the other hand, I also would want to put into the *Record* a concern, if we put an arbitrary limit or number to those children who may be adopted within a year. The moment we put a ceiling, then it might open opportunities for corruption. It may come to a point that the quota system may be revived because we are working within a specified number within a year. That is the counter concern that I would want to state on the record.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: All right. The Chair will entertain any amendments. We are now on page 7, Section 10. Are there any amendments on page 7?

Senator Maceda: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Maceda is recognized.

Senator Maceda: I have a few amendments, but I would rather have the other Gentleman finish his amendments and I will put in my three or four amendments at the end.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Shahani is recognized.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, I would like to go back to the amendment which I proposed about the process going to the Philippine Regional Trial Court. The reason I said this is that it is stated in the Family Code that any adoption has to be done through our courts. This is why we have to revise the Family Code to take account of the fact now that adoption becomes an administrative matter. I think this is the difficulty now in this situation.

Senator Maceda: Mr. President, this raises precisely a fundamental procedural point. Now that this issue has been raised, this is a matter that falls concurrently within the jurisdic-

tion of the Committee on Constitutional Amendments, and Revision of Codes and Laws to find out precisely how this legal conflict should be ironed out, if not concurrently also with the Committee on Justice and Human Rights.

As the distinguished Gentlemen from Camarines Sur and Laguna are here, maybe, they can get together before we adjourn tomorrow and craft the necessary provision. Otherwise, the only correct procedural way to follow this now is to refer this matter to these two Committees for a formal report on these particular points.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Maybe, at this stage, we recommend that this particular item, Section 10, be left to Senators Roco and Lina, if they can come up with some compromise arrangement. Meanwhile, we will suspend first Section 10 so that we can take the other sections.

Senator Roco: What happened, Mr. President, to the proposed amendment which was accepted? Has it been approved?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: It has been accepted in principle, but I suppose we want to see the text.

Senator Roco: Yes, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We will now proceed to Section 11.

Are there any other amendments on page 7? [Silence] On page 8? [Silence] On page 9?

Senator Rasul: On page 9, line 6, delete the period (.) after the word "agency" and add the following phrase "AS WELL AS THE REPATRIATION BACK TO THE PHILIPPINES OF A FILIPINO CHILD WHOSE ADOPTION HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED FOR ANY REASON WHATSOEVER." So that paragraph will now read: "The Department of Foreign Affairs shall set up a system by which Filipino children sent abroad for trial custody are monitored and checked as reported by the authorized and accredited inter-country adoption agency AS WELL AS THE REPATRIATION BACK TO THE PHILIPPINES OF A FILIPINO CHILD WHOSE ADOPTION HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED FOR ANY REASON WHATSOEVER."

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is the phrase "THE REPATRIATION BACK TO THE PHILIPPINES" not redundant? The Chair supposes that when we talk of repatriation, we really mean return to the Philippines.

Senator Rasul: This is the amendment of Senator Tañada, Mr. President. If the Chair cares to amend the amendment...

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: No. Maybe, to make it very clear — "REPATRIATION BACK TO THE PHILIPPINES". The Chair will not quarrel with that.

Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Is there any other amendment on page 9? [Silence] On Page 10? [Silence] On page 11? [Silence] The last page? [Silence]

In that case, we will just await for the amendment of Senator Roco, unless there are other amendments.

Senator Maceda: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Maceda is recognized.

#### MACEDA AMENDMENTS

Senator Maceda: Can we start on page 2, Mr. President?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Yes.

Senator Maceda: On page 2, line 3, change the word "eighteen (18)" to "FIFTEEN (15)".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say? The term "Child" refers to a person below FIFTEEN (15) years of age.

Senator Maceda: Most of the adoptions are really in the infant to below thirteen (13) group. I wonder why we have to go all the way up to eighteen (18). They are 18-year olds. They are ready to vote. They should be ready for civilian reserved duty. We should keep them in this country already. They are too old to be adopted abroad.

Senator Rasul: We accept the amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Maceda: On page 3, Mr. President. On the premise that we will now shift from judicial to an administrative procedure, that now requires a substantial change in the composition of the Board. So I propose that on line 5, the number "four (4)" be increased to "SIX" (6), so we will have a seven-man board instead of five.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say?

Senator Rasul: We accept, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Maceda: There will be one additional lawyer and one additional representative from the NGOs. So on line 8, "TWO (2) lawyers WHO SHALL HAVE THE QUALIFICATIONS OF A REGIONAL TRIAL COURT JUDGE".

Senator Rasul: It is accepted, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

**Senator Maceda**: And "THREE (3)" instead of "two (2) representatives from non-governmental organizations".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: No, that has been changed to only "ONE", so that now we go back to "TWO".

Senator Maceda: No, we will have to go to "THREE (3)" to make it "SEVEN (7)" instead of even.

Senator Rasul: No, we will have eight, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Eight, including the Chairman. So it will be "TWO (2) representatives from non-governmental organizations".

Senator Rasul: It is accepted, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Maceda: In view of the higher qualifications and now the importance of this Board, I move to amend the per diems to increase it from "Seven hundred pesos (P700.00)" to "ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED PESOS (P1,500.00) for each meeting".

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say?

Senator Rasul: It is a little too high, Mr. President.

**Senator Maceda:** No. That is the normal amount we approved now for SSS and for other boards. That will only come out to P12,000.00 a month for eight meetings.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That will only come out to P6,000.00 because we have limited the meetings to four a month.

**Senator Maceda:** Well, then much more we have to increase it. Who will accept appointment to the Board if the compensation is low?

Senator Rasul: We accept the amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Sponsor accepts P1500. Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Maceda: On page 4, I would like to add two provisos on line 19, and this is all in the context of one year or two years, subject to review. "PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT NOT MORE THAN FIVE (5) PER COUNTRY SHALL BE ACCREDITED AND AUTHORIZED; AND PROVIDED, FINALLY, THAT THE TOTAL NUMBER FOR ALL COUNTRIES SHALL NOT EXCEED ONE HUNDRED (100) A YEAR, SUBJECT TO REVIEW EVERY TWO (2) YEARS."

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: What does the Sponsor say?

Senator Rasul: In principle, Mr. President, we accept. But there are some countries, like the United States, where we have the bulk of Filipinos living abroad. Usually, they are the biggest adopter of Filipino children. If we limit it to 100 and give the same number to Italy or Germany...

Senator Maceda: No, we are limiting it to five per country and a total of 100 worldwide. I do not want to see 10,000 adopting agencies coming here and really making this a "flesh market."

**Senator Rasul:** Mr. President, as pointed earlier by the distinguished Senator from Mandaluyong City, this might lead to some kind of a quota system.

Senator Maceda: That is true.

**Senator Rasul:** It might, in fact, lead to some kind of graft and corruption in the adoption.

Senator Maceda: But we have seen also, Mr. President, that when there has been no limit on the recruitment agencies operating out of Taiwan, Japan, or the Middle East, then suddenly we have also fly-by-night foreign agencies coming in here to recruit laborers; in this case, to adopt children, which is, in my understanding in certain countries of the world, is even a

more lucrative business than recruitment of workers.

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, we can accept the amendment to limit it to 100 but without specifying which country. Just make it "ONE HUNDRED (100) WORLDWIDE".

Senator Maceda: We accept that amendment to the amendment, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Chair is a little confused. A maximum of five agencies per country?

Senator Maceda: No, Mr. President. That is being amended now. The only proviso that will be proposed now is: "PROVIDED, THAT THE TOTAL NUMBER OF AUTHORIZED AND ACCREDITED FOREIGN PRIVATE ADOPTION AGENCIES SHALL NOT EXCEED ONE HUNDRED (100) A YEAR".

Senator Rasul: The amendment is accepted, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Just to make sure. It is one hundred accredited agencies worldwide?

Senator Maceda: Yes, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection to this provision? [Silence] Hearing none, the same is approved.

Senator Maceda: On page 5, line 16, add this proviso:

"PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE MAXIMUM NUMBER THAT MAY BE ALLOWED FOR FOREIGN ADOPTION SHALL NOT EXCEED SIX HUNDRED (600) A YEAR FOR THE FIRST FIVE (5) YEARS".

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, I did not get it.

Senator Maceda: I was told earlier, based on the records that the Lady Senator read, that there are only about 400 to 450. Based on that, I therefore even make allowances for some additionals which would come out to about 50 a month or 600 a year.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The other alternative can be one per 100,000 in population which means a maximum of...

Senator Maceda: No, Mr. President. I really still hope to see if we have a better administration in 1998 that we will get enough economic progress to keep all these people here. In

principle, I do not want to see any Filipinos being encouraged to be adopted to go to foreign shores where they are going to grow up in a culture that is not part of the Filipino culture. It is good if they are all just babies — a few days after birth. But if they are already 14, 13, 12, 11, 10, 9, 8, 7, 6 years old and they are going to be sent to another culture and to another country, the less we send out, the better for us and our pride and dignity as a nation.

Senator Rasul: We agree, Mr. President.

**The Presiding Officer** [Senator Aquino]: Does the Sponsor accept the amendment of a maximum of 600? Is there any objection?

Senator Rasul: Earlier, we thought it was a maximum of 100.

**Senator Maceda**: No, those are the agencies. We are talking of 600 children.

Senator Rasul: Six hundred is very liberal, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Sponsor accepts. Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

**Senator Maceda:** May we be enlightened on page 6, lines 21 to 27.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That has been deleted.

Senator Maceda: The whole?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The whole paragraph, as a matter of fact, all the way until line 3 of page 7 has been deleted.

Senator Maceda: All right. So that really erased some problems.

On page 5, line 26, I do not feel very strongly about this, but I want to go in the other direction. Why 24 years old specifically? Why not an older person?

**Senator Rasul:** We are amenable to an amendment, Mr. President.

Senator Maceda: Mr. President, even in this country or we studied in the US, when one is 24 years old, he is just out of college and he is not really financially in a position to adopt or to take care of a child. So I would like to propose that this

"twenty-four (24)" be changed to "thirty (30)".

Senator Rasul: Thirty might be a little old.

Senator Maceda: By the time they reach 30, they would probably have five or six years of experience on the job or jobs and they would be more financially settled.

**Senator Rasul:** Mr. President, we would like to amend that amendment to "twenty-five (25)" instead of "thirty (30)".

Senator Maceda: The Gentleman here from Camarines Sur is suggesting "TWENTY-SEVEN (27)", Mr. President.

Senator Rasul: We accept that, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: So, "TWENTY-SEVEN (27)".

Senator Maceda: Because the Gentleman from Bicol looks like he is only 27.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Twenty years ago.

**Senator Maceda**: Although his waistline is bigger than 27. [Laughter]

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Senator Maceda: I thank the Sponsor for her patience.

Senator Rasul: Thank you, Mr. President.

Senator Lina: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Lina is recognized.

Senator Lina: Thank you, Mr. President.

My amendment is on page 5, lines 29 to 31. A person who is single can adopt, is it not? I would like to ask the Sponsor before I introduce my amendment.

Senator Rasul: Yes, Mr. President.

Senator Lina: Then, why is it that a person who is married has to wait after three years before he can adopt? What is the difference? If a single person can adopt without any condition except to age and other qualifications, why are we going to put

a limit or qualification to a person who is married? He has to wait for three years before he can adopt.

Therefore, I move that we strike out or delete the phrase "must be married for at least three (3) years at the time of the application; and".

So that the sentence will read: "if married, his/her spouse must jointly file for the adoption;"

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, there is a reason for the three years. During the honeymoon stage, the couple may not be psychologically fit to take care of an adopted child.

Senator Lina: That is a very arguable question. What I am saying is that if a single person can adopt, why are we going to limit a married person from adopting right away as long as the petition is filed jointly by the spouses?

Senator Rasul: If the Sponsor feels very strongly about that three-year period, Mr. President, I suppose we can accept the amendment.

Senator Lina: Thank you.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Webb does not agree.

Senator Webb: No, Mr. President, because maybe there is a reason for those three years. Not only because of the honeymoon period, because honeymoons really do not last that long. But given three years, first, I think it might be the time for them to be stable enough to be able to adopt. Second, maybe at that time, if they do not still have a child, then they shall have made up their minds to adopt. So, there are safeguards to this particular provision.

Not that I am against the point of Senator Lina, but I think there are reasons for those three years.

I would like to ask the Sponsor, what are the real reasons? A reason like honeymoon cannot be used here, Mr. President.

They had Committee hearings, Mr. President, and I would like to find out what came out of the Committee hearing—why three years.

Senator Rasul: Mr. President, we are not a member of that Committee, so we really do not know what took place during the Committee deliberations. But I presume the three years is to provide for the couple to stabilize their lives together, for them to be able to determine what kind of a child and what age they

would want to adopt.

It is not as if only one person will adopt. It has to be a joint decision of the couple. A single person does not have to consult anyone. But a married couple will have to consult each other on the child that they would want to adopt. And that is the reason for the three years.

Senator Webb: That is the reason that I asked, Mr. President, because I think there is sufficient ground to specify three years. In fact, as far as I am concerned, it should even be five years. But if we just say they got married and they will adopt, and then comes their child, magkakaroon pa iyan ng selosan. Kaya nga siguro ang tatlong taon ay sapat nang panahon para malaman nila kung ano ba talaga ang gusto nila. Mag-a-adopt ba sila o magkakaroon ba sila ng kanilang sariling anak?

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Maybe, it takes three years to convince a wife to accept what the husband wants or vice versa.

Senator Lina: Mr. President, that concept is not being removed by the amendment that I introduced because the adoption by a married person will have to have the concurrence of the other spouse. That concept is not being removed. What is being removed is the three-year limit or time frame.

After all, Mr. President, it is not automatic that when a couple who has just been married will file an application for adoption, that the application will be approved. It will have to be the Board that will evaluate things. So that if the Board believes that the couple is not in a position to adopt, then the Board will say so and will dismiss the application.

What I am just concerned about is that we are putting a limit without any scientific basis, an unnecessary limit. What if it is for the best interest of the child to be adopted right away and there is a couple that looks good, balanced people, mentally and emotionally. Why should we prevent them from adopting?

Senator Rasul: We accepted the amendment earlier, Mr. President — to delete the three-year period.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Yes, that is correct. The Sponsor accepted the amendment, unless somebody objects to this particular amendment of Senator Lina.

Senator Webb: I will have to object, Mr. President, because what I am after here is, let us face it — what is our intention? Is it not to protect the child, first and foremost? It is the Filipino child who is exposed here.

By giving it three years, and I reiterate, we are giving three years to the couple to decide finally what kind of a life they would like to have. We have to put certain parameters. It is not what they want that is important, it is what we want for the Filipino child.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Maybe we can listen to the words of wisdom from Senator Maceda.

Senator Lina: Let me just add a little more, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Lina.

Senator Lina: First, if a couple has been diagnosed by doctors, even prior to the date of marriage, because there are some cases where the prospective wife or husband will undergo medical examination, and they are very transparent with each other that one of them cannot bear or cannot be part of a procreative process; then, why do they have to wait for three years when it is already known that the couple cannot bring forth children? So, there will be no reason to prevent them from adopting.

Second, as I said, and I just would like to emphasize, the application per se by a married couple will not be approved immediately. The Board will have to determine and study the circumstances surrounding the adoption, the capability of the spouses to bring forth or rear the children. All these things will be factored in, Mr. President.

There may be couples who have been married for six or ten years, but they are not that responsible people. Therefore, the Board, using its wise discretion, will also dismiss or disapprove the application. So, I do not see why we have to limit the couple to three years after before they can adopt.

I think I have said my piece, Mr. President. I see no reason why we should have that limitation. Anyway, the amendment has been accepted by the Sponsor.

Senator Maceda: Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Maceda is recognized.

Senator Maceda: I wanted to touch on several points. But on this point, then my previous amendment that has been adopted becomes more meaningful—the 27-year-old, and I had wanted earlier 30.

If my recollection is correct, Filipino women on the average, a great majority of them, get married at the age of 19 and

Filipino men at 21 or 22. So, by the time they are 27, they have probably been married for some time even without this particular three-year period. The great majority would have been married for some time.

Also, with regard to single people, at least, they are not 24 or younger people. At 27, they are generally very matured already.

I would like to raise — before we suspend — some questions now that have to be raised in view of the distinction that is being brought up between married and single.

Has the Committee considered the problem of homosexuality, lesbianism, and separated couples? Under the previous law, if one already has a legitimate child, he is not allowed to adopt. Should somebody who has ten kids still be allowed to adopt? Those are questions that are not in this particular bill on who may adopt?

Since we are talking about single people, the Gentleman is now talking about single parents; he is now talking about lesbians; and he is talking about homosexuals, and potential pedophiles.

Thank you.

# SUSPENSION OF THE SESSION

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is suspended for one minute, if there is no objection. [There was none.]

It was 7:23 p.m.

#### RESUMPTION OF THE SESSION

At 7:27 p.m., the session was resumed.

Senator Romulo: We are ready to resume, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The session is resumed. Senator Webb is recognized.

Senator Webb: Mr. President, due to the insistence of our Majority Leader, I now yield and will not insist on my amendment, with a proviso that I would review the records of the Committee hearings to find out the reason why they included not only the particular situation of a person as being married, but also the waiting period of three years. I believe there must have been grounds for it. So that my submission to the request of the Majority Leader is without prejudice to asking for a reconside-

ration of the proposed amendment.

Thank you, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That is fine. So, the amendment proposed by Senator Webb is withdrawn.

The Sponsor accepts the amendment proposed by Senator Lina to delete the words starting from "must" on line 29 and the entire line 30 on page 5. So that the same shall read: "if married, his/her spouse must jointly file for the adoption".

Is there any objection? [Silence] hearing none, the amendment is approved.

Are there other amendments?

Senator Romulo: I move that we close the period of individual amendments, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Except for one. Senator Lina earlier agreed to accommodate one more possible amendment from Senator Roco. What is the pleasure of the Gentleman?

**Senator Roco**: I move that we close the period of individual amendments, Mr. President.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the motion is approved.

**Senator Romulo**: Mr. President, I move that we vote on Senate Bill No. 1984 on Second Reading.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Shahani is recognized.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, I am just wondering whether the amendment of Senator Roco has now been reflected in the records because I believe that is a major amendment.

Senator Romulo: May I request, Mr. President, that Senator Lina be recognized.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Senator Lina is recognized.

Senator Lina: The amendment that was introduced by Senator Roco and which has been accepted by the Sponsor was

that there will be a two-pronged approach now to adoption: one, through administrative proceeding; and two, without prejudice through the usual judicial process. That amendment was already accepted and it will just have to be put in writing, subject to refinement and style, Mr. President.

Senator Shahani: Mr. President, it is not just a matter of style; but a matter of substance. If those two points are clear in the amendment, then I will accept that proposal with the condition that that is clearly reflected in the written text.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: That is correct. That proposed amendment has been accepted by the Sponsor, just to formalize.

Is there any objection to that two-pronged approach? [Silence] Hearing none, the same is approved.

There are no more amendments.

**Senator Romulo**: Mr. President, I therefore reiterate my motion to close the period of individual amendments.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: Is there any objection? [Silence] Hearing none, the motion is approved.

# APPROVAL OF SENATE BILL NO. 1984 ON SECOND READING

Senator Romulo: Mr. President, I move that we vote on Senate Bill No. 1984, as amended, on Second Reading.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: We shall now vote on the bill, as amended, on Second Reading. As many as are in favor of the bill, will please say Aye. [Several Senators: Aye.] As many as are against, will please say Nay. [Silence]

Senate Bill No. 1984, as amended, is approved on Second Reading.

Senator Romulo: Mr. President, may I ask the Secretary to please read the Ninth Additional Reference of Business.

The Presiding Officer [Senator Aquino]: The Secretary will please read the Ninth Additional Reference of Business.

NINTH ADDITIONAL REFERENCE OF BUSINESS

MESSAGES FROM THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

The Acting Secretary [Atty. Raval]: